### LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS

1/1/25-12/31/25

### AGREEMENT

### BETWEEN

### LINCOLN BOARD OF EDUCATION

### **AND**

# LINCOLN EDUCATION ASSOCIATES ORGANIZATION



LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS YPSILANTI, MICHIGAN

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE	1
PURPOSE AND INTENT	1
ARTICLE I - RECOGNITION	2
ARTICLE II - EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY	3
ARTICLE III - EMPLOYEE WELLNESS COMMITTEE	4
ARTICLE IV - DISCLOSURES	
ARTICLE V - PAYROLL DEDUCTION	
ARTICLE VI - JOINT BOARD AND LEAO MEETINGS	7
ARTICLE VII - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	8
Step 1.	8
STEP 2.	8
STEP 3. STEP 4.	3
STEP 5.	9
ARTICLE VIII - COMPENSATION	10
A. BIWEEKLY PAY.	10
B. SHIFT PREMIUM.	10
C. Substitutes.	10
D. OVERTIME.	10
E. FLEX TIME	11
F. SUMMER SCHOOL.	11
G. OVERNIGHT STAYS.	12
H. HOLIDAYS.	12
I. SICK TIME PAYOUT  J. SALARY.	13 13
K. Annual Longevity Pay.	13
L MILEAGE.	14
M. Hospitalization Insurance.	14
ARTICLE IX - SENIORITY, LAYOFFS, REDUCTION OF STAFF	17
A. Seniority.	17
B. LAYOFF, REDUCTION OF STAFF	18
ARTICLE X - QUALIFICATIONS AND POSTING	19
ARTICLE XI – VOLUNTARY AND INVOLUNTARY TRANSFERS	20
ARTICLE XII - PAID LEAVES	21
ARTICLE XIII - NON-SCHEDULED CLOSINGS	22
ARTICLE XIV - JURY DUTY	23
ARTICLE XV - LEAVE POLICY	24

ARTICLE XVI - VACATION TIME	25
ARTICLE XVII - UNION MEMBER SELF-IMPROVEMENTS	27
ARTICLE XVIII - PERSONNEL FILES	28
ARTICLE XIX - DISCIPLINE, SUSPENSION AND DISCHARGE	29
ARTICLE XX - EVALUATIONS	31
ARTICLE XXI - SAFETY PROVISIONS	32
ARTICLE XXII - REST PERIOD AND FACILITIES FOR RELIEF TIME	33
ARTICLE XXIII - UNIFORMS	34
ARTICLE XXIV - INFORMATION	35
ARTICLE XXV - ASSOCIATION ACTIVITIES	36
ARTICLE XXVI - UNION RIGHTS	37
ARTICLE XXVII - BOARD RIGHTS	38
ARTICLE XXVIII - PRINTING OF AGREEMENT	39
ARTICLE XXIX - REVISED JOBS AND NEW JOBS	40
ARTICLE XXX - SUBCONTRACTING	41
ARTICLE XXXI - OUTSIDE USE OF BUILDING AND FACILITIES	42
ARTICLE XXXII - STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS	43
ARTICLE XXXIII – STUDENT DISCIPLINE AND SUPPORT STAFF PROTECTION	44
APPENDIX A - CLASSIFICATIONS	46
APPENDIX B - WAGE SCHEDULES	47
APPENDIX C - WAGE SCHEDULE	49
APPENDIX D - GRIEVANCE FORM	49
APPENDIX E - LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS - PERSONAL LEAVE NOTIFICATION	51
APPENDIX F - LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS - VACATION LEAVE REQUEST	52
APPENDIX G - LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS - REQUEST TO ATTEND A PROFESSIONAL CONFERENCE	53
APPENDIX H - LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS - LEAVE REQUEST FORM	54
APPENDIX I - LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS - EMPLOYMENT NOTICE	55
APPENDIX J - LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS - IN-DISTRICT EMPLOYEE APPLICATION FORM	56
DURATION OF AGREEMENT	57

#### PREAMBLE

This Agreement is entered into, effective January 1, 2024 and expiring on December 31, 2024, by and between the Lincoln Consolidated School Board of Education, the city of Ypsilanti, Michigan (hereinafter called the "Employer") and the Michigan Education Support Personnel Association (MESPA), through its local affiliate, the Lincoln Education Associates Organization (LEAO) (hereinafter called the "Union"). The signatories shall be the sole parties to this Agreement.

#### PURPOSE AND INTENT

The general purpose of this Agreement is to set forth terms and conditions of employment, and to promote orderly and peaceful labor relations for the mutual interest of the Employer and the Union.

The parties recognize that the interest of the community and the job security of the employees depend on the Employer's success in establishing a proper service to the community.

To these ends, the Employer and the Union encourage to the fullest degree friendly and cooperative relations between the respective representatives at all levels and among all employees.

### ARTICLE I RECOGNITION

- A. Pursuant to and in accordance with all applicable provisions of Act 336 of the Public Acts of 1947, as amended by Act 379 of Public Acts of 1965, the Employer does hereby recognize the Union as the exclusive representative of all employees of the Employer included in the bargaining unit described below for the purpose of collective bargaining with respect to wages, hours, and other conditions of employment for the term of this Agreement.
- B. The bargaining unit includes all regular Food Service Employees, Custodians, Maintenance Workers, Clerks and Secretaries, Paraprofessionals and Specialized Support Services who are employed on a regular basis, excluding the Secretary to the Superintendent, Secretary to the Assistant Superintendent, Secretary to the Director of Human Resources, High School students who work no more than twenty (20) hours per week during the school year, noon playground and/or lunchroom supervisors, substitute employees, and all part-time employees who work twelve (12) hours or less per week, and supervisory personnel.

The current Secretary to the Director of Business Services will receive the .75 increase to her current rate of \$21.30 for the 2024 contract. The salary will revert to the pay scale for a Director's Secretary position when Christina Strickland leaves the district.

#### C. Definitions:

- 1. Regular employee: An employee who is regularly scheduled to work on a permanent daily basis.
- 2. Substitute employee: A person who takes the place of an employee on a non-permanent, day-to-day basis, until the regularly assigned employee returns or is replaced.
- 3. Temporary employee: An employee who provides services when help is required and said job assignment or position is not of a permanent nature.
- D. 1. Temporary employees appointed to a temporary position shall, after ninety (90) calendar days, become a member of the bargaining unit and shall come under the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
  - 2. Temporary and substitute employees shall not be employed if the result would cause vacant and/or newly created positions to not be posted and filled with regular employees, except as otherwise provided herein.

# ARTICLE II EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY

- A. It shall be the policy of the Board of Education to recruit and hire without regard to race, sex, marital status, age, color, creed or national origin. It shall further be the policy of the Board of Education that all personnel actions including: rate of compensation, promotion, retirement, transfers, fringe benefits, layoffs, and recall, are administered without regard to all legally protected classifications identified by federal, state, and local law.
- B. The Board of Education and its representatives will not discriminate against or coerce any employee because of or with respect to any lawful activity or because of an employee's membership or non-membership in the LEAO.

# ARTICLE III EMPLOYEE WELLNESS COMMITTEE

The parties do hereby agree that an employee wellness committee shall be formed consisting of representatives of the Board and representatives of the Association. It is the intent of the parties that representatives from all employee groups in the district shall be represented on this committee (subject to approval from those employee groups).

This committee shall make recommendations to the superintendent regarding programs designed to facilitate a healthier staff and working environment.

# ARTICLE IV DISCLOSURES

The parties recognize that the Lincoln Education Associates Organization (LEAO) is the exclusive bargaining agent for the members/positions described in the Recognition clause of this agreement including those in positions identified in the Recognition clause which have been historically considered bargaining unit employees.

It is recognized that the bargaining agent has the responsibility of supporting all employees of the bargaining unit by enforcing provision of the master agreement. The employer has the responsibility to provide the bargaining agent with the name, address, and classification of all new hires within the bargaining unit.

The Superintendent or designee will provide, upon written request of the LEAO, by August 1 of each year, the following information for all bargaining unit employees.

- 1. Name
- 2. Address
- 3. Status of employment
- 4. Classification
- 5. Total hours worked for prior year

# ARTICLE V PAYROLL DEDUCTION

The Board shall deduct from the pay of each employee from whom it receives authorization to do so and make appropriate remittance for annuities, credit union, savings bonds, charitable donations, insurance option plans, or any other plans or programs jointly approved by the Board and the LEAO.

### ARTICLE VI JOINT BOARD AND LEAO MEETINGS

Both parties recognize the value of sharing, discussing, and providing opportunities for resolving problems. Therefore, representatives of the Board designees and the LEAO shall meet on a monthly basis as needed if either party submits an agenda to the other party, no later than five (5) working days prior to that date.

All such conferences shall be arranged through the President of the Union, or a representative, and the Superintendent or designee. Representatives at such conferences shall not exceed five (5) representatives from each party. It is understood that any and all matters of discussion shall not alter or change in any way the provisions of this Agreement.

### ARTICLE VII GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- A. A claim by an employee, group of employees, or the Union, that there has been an alleged violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of any provision of this Agreement, or any rule, order, policy, or regulation of the Board, that directly relates to wages, hours, or conditions of employment, may be processed as a grievance as hereinafter provided. All grievances shall be settled in conformity with the following grievance procedure.
  - 1. Signature of the grievant or grievants.
  - 2. It must be specific in nature.
  - 3. It must contain a synopsis of facts giving rise to the alleged violation.
  - 4. It must cite the section or subsection of the contract allegedly violated.
  - 5. It must contain the date of the alleged violation.
  - 6. It must specify the relief requested.
  - 7. At each level, the original grievance form, with notation of disposition, shall be returned to the grievant with a copy to the LEAO President.
  - 8. Failure to comply with 1-7 above shall result in the grievance not being processed beyond the first step unless compliance is met within five (5) working days of notification to the Union of the specific procedural problem.

#### B. Step 1.

In the event that an employee believes there is a grievance, the employee shall first discuss the alleged grievance with the immediate supervisor, either personally or accompanied by the Union representative. The grievance discussion shall be held within ten (10) working days of the time the grievant knew or should have known of the alleged violation.

#### Step 2.

If, as a result of the informal discussion with the immediate supervisor, an alleged grievance still exists, the Union member may invoke the formal grievance procedure through the LEAO. A copy of the grievance shall be delivered to the immediate supervisor within five (5) working days of the informal discussion. If the grievance involves more than one (1) work location, it may be filed with the Superintendent or designee.

Within five (5) working days of receipt of the grievance, the immediate supervisor shall meet with the grievant and the LEAO in an effort to resolve the grievance. The immediate supervisor shall indicate, in writing, the disposition of the grievance within five (5) working days of such meeting, and shall furnish a copy thereof to the Union and return the original to the LEAO grievant.

#### Step 3.

If the LEAO is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance, or if no disposition has been made within five (5) working days of such meeting, or ten (10) working days from date of filing, the grievance shall be transmitted to the Superintendent or designee and the grieving party or parties shall have five (5) working days from the date the grievance form is received to submit the grievance to Step 3. Within five (5) working days, the Superintendent or designee shall meet with the grievant and the LEAO on the grievance and shall indicate, in writing, his or her disposition within five (5) working days of such meeting, and shall furnish a copy thereof to the LEAO and the original to the grievant.

#### Step 4.

If the LEAO is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance, or if no disposition has been made within five (5) working days of such meeting, or ten (10) working days from date of filing, the grievance shall be transmitted to the Superintendent and the grieving party or parties shall have five (5) working days from the date the grievance form is received to submit the grievance to Step 4. Within five (5)

working days, the Superintendent shall meet with the grievant and the LEAO on the grievance and shall indicate, in writing, a disposition within five (5) working days of such meeting, and shall furnish a copy thereof to the LEAO and the original to the grievant.

#### Step 5.

If the LEAO is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Step 4, or if no disposition has been made within the period provided above, the grievance shall be submitted to arbitration within fifteen (15) working days. The arbitrator shall be selected by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its rules which shall likewise govern the arbitration proceeding. The arbitrator shall have no power to alter, add to, or subtract from the terms of this Agreement. Both parties agree to be bound by the award of the arbitrator. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the parties.

- C. Powers of the arbitrator are subject to the following limitations:
  - 1. The arbitrator shall have no power to establish rates of pay or to change any rates of pay.
  - 2. If either party disputes the arbitrability of any grievance under the terms of this Agreement, the arbitrator shall first render a decision as to the arbitrability thereof. Should the grievance be determined nonarbitrable, it shall be returned to the parties with no opinion on its merits.
- D. The arbitrator shall have the authority, when sustaining a grievance for an employee who is found to have been unjustly discharged, to reinstate with full reimbursement of all compensation. The arbitrator may also order that money or its equivalent be awarded to an employee who is found to have been improperly deprived of compensation or advantage.
- E. The time limits provided in this Article shall be strictly observed but may be extended by written agreement of the parties.
- F. Notwithstanding the expiration of this Agreement, any claim, or grievance arising there under, may be processed through the grievance procedure until resolution.
- G. 1. In the event the grievance procedure occurs during the work day, an employee who is directly involved in the grievance shall be excused with pay to participate in the grievance procedure.
  - 2. Directly involved, for purposes of this Agreement shall mean: The grievant or grievants, the LEAO representative or representatives and witnesses whose testimony is pertinent to the grievance.

### ARTICLE VIII COMPENSATION

#### A. Biweekly Pay.

By the beginning of the 2023-2024 school year, all employees will transition to receive their salary in semi-monthly installments.

Ten-month employees will receive their pay over a 20-pay period.

#### B. Shift Premium.

All employees working the afternoon shift receive a shift premium of five (5) percent of their gross pay. Midnight shift shall receive a shift premium of ten (10) percent of their gross pay. When second or third shift custodial/maintenance employees are moved to the daytime shift by the Employer during the school year to substitute for an absent employee on a daily basis, they will continue to be paid at their regular rate of pay, including shift premium.

#### C. Substitutes.

- 1. A regular bargaining unit member assigned to perform the work of an absent bargaining unit member within the same series will be paid their own regular rate from the starting date for those duties. However, a bargaining unit member's pay rate shall not be reduced as a result of such assignment.
  - a. Any bargaining unit member assigned to perform the work of an absent bargaining unit member shall be paid at the higher pay rate and step appropriate to the substitute members pay rate and step (Example: A Step 7 Assistant Building Secretary subbing for a Building Secretary would receive the Step 7 Building Secretary pay rate, etc.) from the starting date for those duties. However, a bargaining unit member's pay shall not be reduced as a result of such assignment.
- 2. Any bargaining unit member who is a certified teacher and substitutes for a teacher, shall be compensated at one-sixth (1/6) of the current daily substitute rate or own regular hourly rate, whichever is higher.
- 3. No bargaining unit member will be requested to substitute for a building administrator or any other administrator in the district.

#### D. Overtime.

- 1. Overtime, for the purposes of this Agreement, shall be defined as any hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours per day or forty (40) hours per week. Hours worked over eight (8) per day shall not be paid as overtime if the excess hours are worked as a result of flex time or voluntary substitute work.
- All employees required to work overtime, as defined above, shall receive time and one-half for the extra hours worked. Any employee required to work any Sunday or holiday shall receive double time for the hours worked.
- 3. In the event that it becomes necessary to require bargaining unit employees to work overtime, the overtime shall be assigned, within the affected classification, on a rotating basis within each

building, provided the next person on the rotation list is qualified to do the work. If no one from within the building volunteers for the overtime, bargaining unit members from outside the building shall be eligible on a rotation basis if qualified for the work. The overtime rotation shall not apply to secretarial employees.

- 4. Any bargaining unit employee called in from home for emergency duty shall be guaranteed at least three (3) hours pay. This time shall be counted as overtime.
- 5. At the beginning of each year, all interested custodial seniority employees will have the opportunity to sign up as additional snow removal personnel. A committee composed of the Director of Maintenance and the three full-time maintenance employees will review candidates interested in and available for the snow removal team. All those considered for the main snow removal team (team A) must be available between the hours of 1:00 a.m. and 9:00 a.m. The committee will select candidate(s) to fill opening(s) based on ability and seniority. Two alternates will be selected as additional help for extreme or extended snow removal needs. Selection for snow removal team will take place annually no later than October 15th. Bargaining unit members who are selected and perform snow removal will not be considered in subsequent years until all interested bargaining unit members have had an opportunity to be considered for the snow removal team. All committee decisions will be final.
  - a. The committee will be responsible for submitting the snow removal team list to the LEAO executive committee.
  - b. On-the-job snow removal training will be available for custodial employees on a yearly basis.

#### E. Flex Time

For twelve (12) month employees, the summer work schedule may be altered, subject to approval of the Immediate Supervisor, to allow an employee the choice between a four (4), ten (10) hour work day or a five (5), eight (8) hour work day. Schedules shall be arranged so that buildings are covered, Monday through Friday. Preferences on work weeks shall be granted according to seniority.

#### F. Summer School.

If Lincoln Consolidated Schools opts to offer a summer school program, the following provisions shall apply for posted paraprofessional positions:

- 1. Summer school shall be considered supplemental employment.
- 2. Wages only will be earned for summer school work. No benefits shall be accrued for summer school work.
- 3. Wages for summer school work shall be determined by the district and stated in the posting.
- 4. Paraprofessionals shall be given preference for summer school work for those who apply provided their last evaluation is deemed satisfactory and meets NCLB requirements. Selection shall be determined by seniority within the paraprofessional classification. Once all applying paraprofessionals have been given assignments, consideration will be given to other applicants who are qualified (NCLB).

- 5. Individuals who work summer school and are not current members of the LEAO shall not be eligible to become members of the bargaining unit.
- 6. Notification for summer school positions shall be simultaneously posted internally within the LEAO and externally and filled internally from the LEAO prior to filling externally.
- G. Overnight Stays. Any bargaining unit member required to a work assignment that necessitates an overnight stay during the normal work week will be paid their regular wages and will be reimbursed any pre-approved required expenses.

#### H. Holidays.

1. Employees working less than twelve (12) months and hired prior to May 1, 2010:

Labor Day

Thanksgiving Day

Day after Thanksgiving

Day before Christmas

Christmas

Day after Christmas

Day before New Years

New Years

Martin Luther King Jr. Day

Presidents' Day

Good Friday

Easter Monday/Spring Break Monday (whichever is appropriate)

Memorial Day

Employees working less than twelve (12) months and hired May 1, 2010 and after, which are noted above:

Labor Day (Beginning 2020-2021)

Thanksgiving Day

Day After Thanksgiving (Beginning 2020-2021)

Day before Christmas

Christmas

Day after Christmas (Beginning 2019-2020)

Day before New Years (Beginning 2019-2020)

New Years (Beginning 2019-2020)

Martin Luther King Jr. Day

Presidents' Day

Good Friday

Easter Monday/Spring Break Monday (whichever is appropriate)

Memorial Day (Beginning 2020-2021)

#### 2. Twelve (12) Month Employees:

Independence Day

Labor Day

Thanksgiving Day

Day after Thanksgiving

Day before Christmas

Christmas

Day after Christmas

Day before New Years

New Years

Martin Luther King Jr. Day (Effective July 1, 2018)

Presidents' Day (Effective July 1, 2018)

Good Friday

Easter Monday/Spring Break Monday (whichever is appropriate)

Memorial Day

Juneteenth (Employees will be paid for Juneteenth if it falls on a regular work day that is scheduled on the district calendar.)

3. A part-time employee working full time during regular school vacation periods shall be paid in full for paid holidays falling during such time periods.

### I. Sick Time Payout

- 1. Upon resignation, retirement, or termination due to privatization/outsourcing of the employee, beginning with the 25th month of service, the Employer shall pay 25% of all unused sick leave, computed according to the pay rate at the time of resignation or retirement.
- 2. Upon resignation, retirement, or termination due to privatization/outsourcing of the employee, who has completed at least 120 months of service, the Employer shall pay 75% of all unused sick leave computed according to the pay rate at the time of retirement.
- 3. Upon death of the employee, the Employer shall pay 50% of all unused sick leave, computed according to the pay rate at the time of death, to the employee's estate or beneficiary.
- 4. Upon retirement, death, resignation, or termination due to privatization/outsourcing of the employee, the Employer shall pay to the employee or the employee's estate 100% of all unused vacation days, computed according to the pay rate at the time of termination.

#### J. Salary.

All employees in the bargaining unit shall receive an increase in their gross salary as specified in Appendix C. Increments shall be effective on July 1. Employees hired prior to January 1 shall move to Step II in July following their date of hire. The employee's hourly rate of pay shall be stated on each paycheck.

#### K. Annual Longevity Pay.

- 1. All eligible employees covered by this Agreement who are on the Employer's active payroll as of the effective date of this Agreement shall be entitled to receive Longevity pay based on their length of continuous service as of their anniversary date with the Employer according to the following rules and schedules of payment. Eligible employees shall be deemed to be employees with sixty (60) months of continuous service, as of their anniversary date.
  - a. At the beginning of the 61st month through the 120th month of service, two percent (2%) of the gross income will be paid, per year.
  - b. At the beginning of the 121st month through the 180th month of service, four percent (4%) of the gross income will be paid, per year.
  - c. At the beginning of the 181st month through the 240th month of service, six percent (6%) of the gross income will be paid, per year.

- d. At the beginning of the 241st month through the 299th month of service, eight percent (8%) of the gross income will be paid, per year.
- e. At the beginning of the 300th month of service through the 359th month of service, ten percent (10%) of the gross income will be paid, per year.
- f. At the beginning of the 360th month of service through the 419th month of service, twelve percent (12%) of the gross income will be paid, per year.
- g. At the beginning of the 420th month of service through the 479th month of service, fourteen percent (14%) of the gross income will be paid, per year.
- h. At the beginning of the 480th month of service, sixteen percent (16%) of the gross income will be paid, per year.
- 2. Longevity pay shall be computed as a percentage of the employee's hourly rate.
- 3. For purposes of this section, continuous service means service calculated from the employee's last hiring date as a regular employee and shall be broken by Quit-Discharge.
- 4. Employees shall not suffer a break in continuous service if they are absent from work due to layoff, physical disability or authorized leave of absence.
- L. Mileage.

Employees required to use their personal vehicle for business purposes, shall be reimbursed at the current IRS rate.

#### M. Hospitalization Insurance.

- 1. a. Upon proper completion of the written application by full-time employees, the employer shall pay 90% of the premium for MESSA Health Insurance ABC1 coverage for the LEAO employees who are considered full-time and participating in the insurance program. Full-time LEAO employees participating in the insurance program shall pay 10% of the premium for the MESSA Health Insurance ABC1 coverage. (Note: All LEAO members who are eligible shall be enrolled in the ABC1 Plan if they elect to take insurance). This insurance shall be a full twelve (12) month period and shall cover the employee's immediate family. If an employee leaves the employ of the school district, coverage shall be canceled within thirty (30) days of the employee's last day on the job (subject to applicable COBRA notice). When appropriate Medicare premiums will be paid on behalf of eligible employees, spouses and/or dependents. (See additional language in b)
  - b. For those members who apply and receive ABC1 health insurance coverage, the Employer shall pay 50% of the HSA for all LEAO employees who are considered full-time and participating in the insurance programs. The HSA money shall be deposited in 2 equal payments in employees HSA account in July and January of each year. The total yearly amounts shall be per the ABC1 Plan HSA recommended contributions for Single, 2-Person, and Full-Family respectively. (See additional language in a.)
- 2. a. Lincoln Consolidated Schools will be recognized as the policyholder and will provide to all eligible employees, ABC1 or Balance+ MESSA healthcare benefits (Washtenaw County Insurance Consortium) as follows:

#### PLAN A

- MESSA ABC 1
- 2. Prescription Coverage: 3-tier Rx
- 3. Deductible In-Network: \$1650 Single /\$3300 2-Person & Family
- 4. In-Network OOP: \$3650 Single / \$7300 2-Person & Family
- 5. Out-of-Network

The member is responsible to the provider for any deductibles, copayments, coinsurance and amounts that are in excess of the approved amount for the services as predetermined by MESSA and BCBSM.

- 6. \$45,000 Negotiated Life
- 7. Vision: VSP 3
- 8. Dental: 80%-80/80/80/80 \$2000 with Adult Orthodontics

#### MESSA Balance+

- 1. Prescription Coverage: MESSA Balance+ Rx.
- 2. Deductible In-Network: \$1650/Single /\$3300 2-Person & Family Deductible
  - Plus 20% co-insurance
- 3. OOP Cap: \$4,050 single/ \$8100 2-Person & Family
- 4. Out-of-Network: The member is responsible to the provider for any deductibles, copayments, coinsurance, and amounts that are in excess of the approved amount for the services as predetermined by Messa and BCBSM.
- 5. \$45,000 Negotiated Life
- 6. Dental: 80%-80/80/80/80 \$2000 Adult Orthodontics

#### PLAN B

- 1. \$45,000 Negotiated Life
- 2. Vision: VSP 3
- 3. Dental: 80%-80/80/80/80 \$2000 with Adult Orthodontics

One thousand four hundred dollars (\$1400) Tax Sheltered Annuity (for a plan selected by the Board in seven hundred dollar (\$700) stipends biannually).

An employee electing the option (Plan B) and whose hours are cut so as to make him/her ineligible for part or all of the option package, shall be allowed to option back to the regular Health Insurance Program at the time of such a cut back.

Members shall be notified of any changes to the Washtenaw County Insurance Consortium within 2 weeks of any changes and the district will be responsible for sending written communication to all members enrolled in the Health Insurance Plan.

- 3. For purposes of this article only, full-time custodial and secretarial classifications shall be based on an eight (8) hour day. Full-time for Food Services shall be based on a six (6) hour day. Fulltime for Paraprofessionals shall be based on a seven (7) hour day.
  - a. Employees who work less then twenty-one (21) hours a week are not eligible to receive Board paid fringe benefits.

- b. Those employees who work twenty-one (21) hours or more but less than full time, who were employed in the bargaining unit on September 1, 1985, will continue to be eligible for Board paid premiums for full fringe benefits.
- c. Employees hired after September 1, 1985, who work twenty-one (21) hours or more but less than full-time will be eligible for prorated fringe benefits.

#### Open Enrollment.

- a. Enrollment shall be as specified by the carrier.
- b. Any employee on leave or layoff shall have the option of retaining his/her fringe benefits or any payroll deduction programs by paying the appropriate group fee to the Business Office monthly or, if appropriate, directly to the carrier(s). For employees on unpaid leave under provisions of Article XII G. 1. below, the district shall continue to provide health insurance premium payments. The employee will be entitled to have monthly health insurance premium payments continued for a number of months equal to the employee's years of service with the school district. Fractional years of service shall be rounded to the nearest full year.
- c. An employee is responsible for coverage application and/or notification of change in family status. Failure to apply for proper coverage and/or notification of change in family status is entirely the responsibility of the employee and shall not result in any cost or expense to the district. The Employer shall provide all employees with a written reminder of this responsibility annually.
- d. In the event an employee's out-of-district health insurance coverage is terminated, the employee must apply for insurance coverage no less than forty (40) days prior to termination of the insurance. Failure to apply in a timely manner may result in lapse of coverage between the out-of-district employer's insurance and Lincoln Schools' Insurance.
- 5. Employee coverage for all insurance paid for by the Board shall be subject to the rules and regulations of the carrier.
- 6. a. Prohibition of Dual Coverage.

It is understood that insurance coverage paid for by the District is not to provide double coverage for employees or their families. If an employee or his/her family is covered under another policy, the employee shall elect which coverage he/she wishes to receive and must notify the District of the election. Falsification of information concerning double coverage may result in loss of insurance coverage for the employee and disciplinary action up to and including discharge.

- b. Hardship Committee.
  - A committee composed of two members appointed by the Board and two members appointed by the Union will be formed to review petitions from employees on a case-by-case basis who request consideration for exemption from the prohibition of dual coverage language.
- c. Exemption will not be considered merely because a spouse's Employer requires the spouse to take an entire insurance package. Consideration will be given for serious

reasons, including, but not limited to; if the spouse's insurance is minimal in nature and the spouse is required to take the insurance, if the spouse, because of impending retirement, is required to retain or resume coverage for a short period of time or if the spouse's health insurance (which the spouse is required to take) does not provide for a benefit and the one thousand dollar (\$1,400) benefit noted in K. 2. above does not make up the difference.

d. The Committee will make its recommendation to the Board. Prior to the Board reviewing the recommendation, the employee shall, within five (5) days of the Committee's recommendation, have the right to grieve the recommendation at the Superintendent's level. The final decision for the grievance and the recommendation shall rest with the Board.

The employee may not request arbitration for Committee, Administration or Board decisions regarding hardship requests.

# ARTICLE IX SENIORITY, LAYOFFS, REDUCTION OF STAFF

Prior to the implementation of any reduction in the bargaining unit's work force, the Board shall meet with the Union for purposes of discussing the specifics of the layoff. At that time, the Board shall furnish the Union with a current copy of the bargaining unit seniority list, a list of positions considered for elimination, and a list of employees to be laid off.

#### A. Seniority.

Seniority shall be defined as length of service within the bargaining unit as of the employee's first
working day. In the circumstance of more than one (1) individual beginning employment the
same date, all individuals so affected will participate in a drawing to determine position on the
seniority list.

An employee shall lose seniority rights if the employee retires, resigns, or is discharged.

- 2. Each new employee of the bargaining unit shall be considered a probationary employee for the first ninety (90) calendar days of employment as a regular employee. A probationary employee who was employed in the same position as a temporary employee immediately prior to being appointed a regular employee, shall have the probation period reduced by the length of the temporary employment in that position, not to exceed thirty (30) days. On completion of the probationary period, the employee shall be placed on the seniority list of the bargaining unit and seniority shall start from the employee's last date of hire as a regular employee. "Last date of hire" shall mean the date on which the employee actually begins work, regardless of when such employee was advised that the employee was being hired, or had been hired.
- 3. An employee who transfers to a position excluded from the bargaining unit, and who subsequently returns to the bargaining unit shall have such seniority as held at the time of such transfer.
- 4. Dismissal of any employee shall be subject to the grievance procedure.
- 5. An employee who is on a leave or layoff without pay or who otherwise leaves the school payroll shall not accrue seniority during the period of such leaves of absence or layoff, but shall retain seniority accrued to the initial date of the approved leave of absence or layoff. When an employee returns from layoff or leave of absence, the employee's seniority date shall be adjusted on the seniority list provided in Section 7 below. Seniority of up to one (1) year shall accrue while an employee is on an approved medical leave.
- 6. An employee shall lose seniority if on layoff for a period of three (3) consecutive years.
- 7. Within sixty (60) calendar days after the effective date of this Agreement, the school Business Office will provide a listing of all employees of the bargaining unit showing hire date, seniority date, and classification of each employee. This list shall be published by October 31 of every year, and distributed to each employee and the Union.
- 8. An employee who transfers or is promoted shall retain seniority in the former classification during the thirty (30) calendar day probationary period of the new position. After completion of the probationary period in the new position, the accrued seniority will be transferred to the new position.

9. An employee on layoff may accrue seniority while working in another classification but such accrued seniority shall be recognized only in the employee's regular classification.

### B. Layoff, Reduction of Staff

- 1. Employees who are to be laid off shall be given no less than fourteen (14) calendar days written notice. Five (5) calendar days' notice shall be given in case of employee work stoppage.
- 2. If a layoff becomes necessary, newly hired probationary employees shall be laid off first within that classification. If further layoff is necessary, layoff shall be according to seniority within each classification series to be affected. (Least senior employees shall be the first laid off.)
- 3. Whenever layoff occurs, the more senior employee shall be allowed to displace the least senior employee of equal hours within the employee's classification or within a lower classification or fill a vacancy within the employee's classification or within a lower classification providing the laid off employee is qualified to perform the work of the less senior employee of the vacant position. The more senior employee shall be allowed to displace the least senior employee working less than equal hours should an equal hour position be available within the employee's classification or within a lower classification.
- 4. A laid off employee may transfer to a vacancy in another classification series, provided the employee meets the stated qualifications.
- 5. Laid off employees shall be recalled in reverse order of layoff, but in all cases the most senior qualified laid off employee within that classification shall be recalled first.
- 6. Should the Employer reinstate a position that had been eliminated, or fill a position that had been allowed to remain vacant, the employee who previously held said position, if not on layoff, shall be offered the position before it is offered to laid off employees.
- 7. An employee on scheduled layoff shall have the right to displace the least-senior employee of equal hours provided the senior employee is qualified to hold the position held by the displaced employee.
- 8. Notice of recall shall be sent by certified mail to the employee's last known address. The employee shall have ten (10) calendar days to report to work from the date that the notice was delivered to the employee's last known address.
- 9. For purposes of this section, classification series shall be designated in Appendix A.

# ARTICLE X OUALIFICATIONS AND POSTING

- A. A vacancy shall be defined for purposes of the Agreement, as a position previously held by an employee, or a newly created position within the bargaining unit. The administration reserves the right to modify vacated positions to meet the needs of the school district. (Refer to Article XXIX, REVISED JOBS AND NEW JOBS).
- B. Whenever a vacancy occurs, the Human Resource Office shall post the position within three (3) days. LEAO members shall not be required to submit a resume and or/cover letter. The In-District Application form, only, shall be required. (See Appendix J.) Internal and external postings will occur simultaneously. Internal postings shall be for five (5) days. Internal interviews shall occur prior to external applicants being interviewed. Qualified internal applicants will be given preference for hires. If an internal applicant is awarded the position, external interviews will not be necessary. If needed, external postings will remain active until filled
- C. The District is committed to filling all vacancies with the most qualified applicants. Vacancies will be filled by the candidate with the highest rating of work experience, prior training and, if testing is provided by the employer, test results. If two or more candidates are equally qualified, the vacancy will be filled as follows:
  - 1. First Tier: The most senior LEAO member will move laterally within the classification.
  - 2. Second Tier: If the position is not filled through the first tier, the most senior LEAO member in a higher classification, will move down from the higher classification to the vacant position.
  - 3. Third Tier: If the position is not filled through the second tier, the position goes to the most senior LEAO member within the series.
  - 4. Fourth Tier: If the position is not filled through the third tier, then the position goes to the most senior LEAO member from any classification or series within the bargaining unit.
  - 5. If the position is not filled with a qualified LEAO member, the last tier shall be outside applicants. The remaining vacant positions shall remain active until filled.
  - Where an external candidate has been selected over internal candidates, upon the LEAO's written
    request, the Employer shall document the reasons it considered all internal candidates unqualified to
    fill a vacancy
- D. When an employee is hired or transferred to a new position and/or classification, the Employer shall issue a Change of Status employment notice, with copies going to the employee, to the Board, and to the LEAO secretary.

When a qualified LEAO member is granted an applied-for position, it is considered a voluntary transfer. Refer to Article XI.

- E. Qualifications of Title I Paraprofessionals:
  - 1. Paraprofessionals hired are required by the ESEA "No Child Left Behind" Act of 2001 to meet the requirements of 20 USC 6319 (c).
  - 2. The paraprofessional positions considered non-instructional shall include: lifeguard, choral accompanist, in-school suspension, and community assistant.

# ARTICLE XI VOLUNTARY AND INVOLUNTARY TRANSFERS

Transfers:

Shall be defined as reassignments to any job within the same job classification or to a higher or lower classification.

No employee may transfer within his/her job classification more than once a year.

#### Voluntary Transfers:

- A. In the event the senior applicant is denied the voluntary transfer, reasons for denial shall be given in writing to such employee. In the event the senior applicant disagrees with the reasons for the denial, it shall be appealable to the Director of Human Resources.
- B. The Employee retains its responsibility for determining, at the end of the thirty (30) calendar day probationary period, whether the voluntary transferred employee shall be given permanent status. If the employee is not placed on a permanent status, he/she shall return to his/her former job without loss of seniority, hours, and benefits.
- C. Where an employee refuses a voluntary transfer, he/she shall not be permitted to contest the seniority of one who does take the job. However, he/she shall not be disqualified from accepting future voluntary transfers.

#### **Involuntary Transfers:**

- A. No involuntary transfers shall be made where an employee may lose his/her seniority status or suffer a decrease in hours and/or hourly rates (shift premium not included) unless such transfer is requested by the individual or for just cause.
- B. Notice of involuntary transfer shall be given in writing to the employee and to the Association at least seven (7) work days if being involuntarily transferred to another building and two (2) work days if being involuntarily transferred within the same building prior to execution.
- C. All involuntary transfers are subject to the grievance procedure.

Transfer of Employees out of the Bargaining Unit

If an employee transfers out of the bargaining unit within the same district and later returns to the unit, the member will be placed on the seniority list at the same level they previously accumulated while in the bargaining unit.

# ARTICLE XII PAID LEAVES

- A. Sick days shall accumulate at the rate of 1.25 days per month or fraction thereof, with accumulation to 200 days for employees hired prior to May 1, 2010. Employees hired May 1, 2010 or after shall accumulate sick days at the rate of one day per month, with accumulation to 100 days.
- B. Three (3) days of accumulated sick days may be used annually for personal use. It is understood that personal days may be taken in hour increments. Personal days may not be utilized to extend a vacation or for recreation purposes except with the approval of the Superintendent or designee. Personal days can be used on non-work days. The parties further agree that personal days can also be used for snow days (Act of God Days) in excess of four (4) (and in 2020-2021, six (6)) with a limitation of not more than three (3) personal days for non-work days or snow days in any one (1) school year.

Any employee planning to use a personal day(s) shall submit a request at least two (2) business days in advance except in cases of emergency. Personal leave may not be used immediately before or after a vacation or holiday period, except where approved by the Superintendent or designee, as being either an "Emergency Situation" or an "Extenuating Circumstance." Personal days will be automatically approved, unless a denial has been made within one (1) business day after the request.

- C. The Business Office shall maintain a sick leave record on all employees. Accumulated sick days and vacation days shall be stated on each paycheck. Each employee shall be given a record of accumulated sick and vacation leave yearly, as of October 31.
- D. Employees shall earn and accrue sick leave credit during the periods for which employees are on the payroll.
- E. Sick leave credit may be used for absence due to illness, injury or necessary medical attention for the employee, the employee's immediate family or death in the employee's immediate family. Immediate family shall be defined as: spouse, children, stepchildren, mother, father, brother, sister, grandparents, grandchildren, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, and any other relative or non-relative living and residing in the employee's household. An employee may charge sick leave with no more than five (5) consecutive days for funeral or death in the immediate family as defined in Article XII, Section E. More days may be granted at the discretion of administration. Up to five (5) days may be provided for funeral or death of any other person whose relationship to the employee warrants such attention with the approval of the Superintendent or designee. For purposes of using accrued sick leave, pregnancy shall be treated like any other illness or disability.

The Employer maintains the right to request a signed doctor's statement for absences that exceed three (3) consecutive dates.

- F. If an employee elects to use sick leave while off duty because of a compensable injury (worker's compensation) and receive his regular earnings, such use may be only to the extent of the difference between the worker's compensation benefits and regular after-tax earnings. A pro rata amount will be deducted from the employee's sick leave accumulation. Should this supplemental payment be found to be subject to the coordination requirements of worker's compensation, such that the amount of worker's compensation benefit is reduced, the employee shall not be allowed the use of sick leave and shall receive only the worker's compensation benefit provided by that statute.
- G. 1. An employee who has used all sick leave credit and is unable to return to work shall be given a leave of absence consistent with applicable law.

2. An employee is allowed three (3) working days off with pay for a funeral or making necessary arrangements, of the immediate family. For a funeral of anyone outside the immediate family, the employee is allowed one (1) day with pay. These days shall not be charged to employee's accumulated sick days or vacation days. New employees hired after July 1, 1985, will have the days charged to the employee's accumulated sick days.

Immediate family shall be defined as described in Article XII, Section E.

# ARTICLE XIII NON-SCHEDULED CLOSINGS

- A. If the school is temporarily closed due to power failure, Act of God, or any cause beyond the control of the employer, twelve (12) month employees shall not be required to report to work except for head custodians and maintenance employees. All other twelve (12) month and ten (10) month employees need not report for the first four (4) non-scheduled closing days each year. Employees will receive pay for those four (4) days. Beginning in the 2020-2021 school year, all other twelve (12) month and ten (10) month employees need not report for the first six (6) non-scheduled closing days each year. Employees will receive pay for those six (6) days.
- B. Head custodians who are required to work on the "four (4) non-scheduled closing days" shall be required to work two (2) hours and shall be paid at the rate of time and a half for those hours worked. Beginning in 2020-2021, head custodians who are required to work on the "six (6) non-scheduled closing days" shall be paid in accordance with this subsection B.
- C. Snow removal personnel, if working while other employees are off, shall receive straight time for the time worked, in addition to payment for the snow day (double time total), 4 days. Beginning in 2020-2021, snow removal personnel shall receive 6 days. This would apply to other personnel requested to work by the Employer.
- D. Scheduled days of student and/or teacher attendance that are canceled because of conditions not within the control of school authorities, such as severe storms, fires, epidemics, or health conditions as defined by the city, county, township, or state health authorities shall be rescheduled by the school district up to the state requirement. Such rescheduling shall not affect, or otherwise require an adjustment of salary, compensation or other benefits provided within this collective bargaining agreement. Employees not required to work on "Act of God" days will receive pay when the days are made up.

# ARTICLE XIV JURY DUTY

An employee who serves on jury duty shall be reimbursed on a bi-weekly basis, for the differences between the jury day stipend and the employee's regular salary for the days served. Employees, when summoned to jury duty or subpoenaed to testify in school related cases, should respond to such summons and shall not be charged for days served. Employees who are subpoenaed to testify against the Employer shall not receive jury duty pay.

### ARTICLE XV LEAVE POLICY

Leaves of absence are provided to ensure the retention of the employee's position even though the employee may be absent from work and without pay.

- 1. The Board, upon written request, may grant a leave of absence which shall not be greater than twelve (12) months in length except when such leave is due to a disability under the terms of the Worker's Compensation Act, or on long-term disability. Any extension of a leave of absence shall be subject to Board approval.
- Leaves of absence shall not be approved for the assumption of other gainful employment.
- 3. A leave of absence may be considered and approved for reasons of:
  - a. Medical or health problems of self and/or immediate family.
  - b. Personal days beyond three (3) successive working days.
  - c. Military.
  - d. Advanced study.
  - e. Election to governmental office.
  - f. Child care.
  - g Professional service.
- 4. Leaves of absence are not granted for an employee who is laid off.
- 5. Medical leaves of absence requests must be accompanied by a statement from a doctor.
- 6. Any employee drawing sick leave pay may request a leave of absence prior to the use of all accumulated sick leave.
- 7. a. On return to active employment, at the conclusion of a non-medical leave of absence, the returning employee will be placed in the employee's former position if the position is unfilled by a regular employee and shall preempt said regular employee only if the seniority of the returning employee is greater. Otherwise, the returning employee shall be assigned to other duties in accordance with job qualifications and seniority.
  - b. Employees returning from an approved medical leave of absence of less than a year will be placed in their former position. Seniority of up to a year may accrue while the employee is on an approved medical leave.
  - 1. For leaves longer than six (6) months, the employee on leave shall give written notice of intent to the Employer, thirty (30) days prior to the expiration date.
  - 2. Leave Request form is attached in contract in Appendix "H".

### ARTICLE XVI VACATION TIME

Vacation pay is based on an employee's months of continuous service and shall accrue in accordance with the following schedule:

- 1. One (1) day per month worked, or major fraction thereof, for the first twelve (12) months of continuous service. (10-12 days)
- 2. One and one-fourth (1 1/4) days per month beginning with the thirteenth (13) month of continuous service and continuing through the ninety-sixth (96) month of continuous service.
- 3. Beginning with the ninety-seventh (97th) month of continuous service and continuing each year thereafter for continuous service, twenty (20) days per year shall be granted. In the event the employee leaves during the fiscal year, vacation days will be prorated accordingly.
- 4. Part-time employees shall accumulate vacation time and shall be paid for their vacation days at their daily rate.
- 5. If an employee is terminated prior to the completion of twelve (12) months of continuous service, the employee shall forfeit all rights to accrued vacation with pay. If by mutual arrangement, an employee was authorized to use vacation prior to the end of twelve (12) continuous months of employment, the Employer is authorized to deduct the paid vacation pay from the employee's final salary payment.
- 6. An employee terminating after twelve (12) months of continuous service is entitled to all annual leave accrued to the date of termination.
- 7. Vacation pay of an employee is based on the current regular daily rate of pay, excluding shift premium or overtime pay.
- 8. For twelve (12) month employees, the following conditions shall apply:
  - a. All vacation shall be taken at the convenience of the Employer and must have the approval of the employee's supervisor. The vacation period shall begin July 1 of each year and end on June 30 of the following year. All vacation rights accruing as of June 30 of any year must be utilized during the next vacation period. Any employee who fails to take vacation days within the next vacation period shall forfeit all rights to the vacation time, with the following exceptions:
    - 1. If an employee is unable to use vacation time during the appropriate vacation period due to the Employer's work requirement, the employee shall be permitted to carry it over into the next vacation period and under no circumstances shall vacation time be forfeited.
    - 2. An employee with more than twelve (12) months of continuous service may utilize vacation during the year in which it is earned, providing it is satisfactory to both the employee and the Employer.
    - 3. The Employer shall have the right to set up a vacation schedule and approve leave requests in a way to ensure the continued operation of all the district's functions and facilities without interference.

- 9. For less than twelve (12) month employees the following conditions shall apply:
  - a. Vacation days may only be used by the employee to be paid for periods of time during the school year during which the employee is not scheduled to work.
  - b. If a less than twelve (12) month employee is scheduled to work on a non-instructional day, he/she may only use a vacation day on such a day with the approval of the employee's supervisor.
  - c. Any days not used by a less than twelve (12) month employee will be paid for at the end of each school year at the employee's regular rate of pay for a day.
  - d. Less than twelve (12) month employees hired after January 1, 1993, shall not be entitled to any vacation accumulation or vacation pay.
- 10. An employee whose employment is terminated and later rehired will not carry over vacation time from the previous employment. An employee who is on leave without pay will not accrue vacation time while on leave, but will retain previously accrued vacation time.
- 11. A report of accrued and used vacation days will be provided to individual LEAO employees per the employee's written request. Request must be made no later than June 30 of each year.

# ARTICLE XVII UNION MEMBER SELF-IMPROVEMENTS

- A. 1. The parties support the principle of continuing education for employees in their professional organizations.
  - 2. With prior approval of the Superintendent or designee, any employee who enrolls in and successfully completes a course or program, approved by the Board, shall receive full reimbursement for tuition.
- B. The Board shall provide funds up to fifty dollars (\$50) per bargaining unit member to permit a minimum of one (1) conference day per employee, per year, within Washtenaw County. Conferences beyond Washtenaw County shall be subject to approval of the Superintendent. If approved, registration and pre-approved expenses will be paid by the district. If employer requires employee to attend a specific conference or visitation the district will pay full registration costs and pre-approved expenses.
- C. The Board shall provide in-service time of a minimum of twenty (20) hours per year, contingent upon a program plan submitted to and approved by the joint committee for each session. Employees shall be paid for the time spent at in-service meetings.
- D. To plan the in-service program, a joint committee shall be established. The joint committee shall be responsible for planning and recommending in-service activities to the superintendent. After approval, the joint in-service committee shall be responsible for planning and carrying out all in-service meetings.

# ARTICLE XVIII PERSONNEL FILES

- A. All employees shall have the right to review the contents of their personnel file and all records of the Board pertaining to said individuals excluding confidential letters of reference secured from sources outside the school system and to have a LEAO representative present at such review.
- B. No material originating after the initial employment shall be placed in an employee's personnel record unless the employee has had an opportunity to review said material. The employee may submit a written notation regarding any material and same shall be attached to the material in question. If the employee believes the material placed, or to be placed, in the employee's file is inappropriate or in error, the employee may receive adjustment, provided cause is shown, through the grievance procedure, whereupon the material shall be corrected or expunged from the file. If an employee is requested to sign material to be in the employee's file, such signature thereon shall be understood to indicate the employee's awareness of the material, but in no instance, shall said signature be interpreted to mean agreement with the material's content.
- C. For the purpose of assisting an employee or the LEAO, in the prosecution or defense of any contractual, administrative or legal proceeding, including, but not limited to grievances, the Employer shall permit an employee and/or LEAO representative access to, and the right to inspect and acquire copies of the employee's personnel file and any other files or records of the Employer which pertain to the Union member or any issue in the proceeding in question. Confidential letters of reference secured from sources outside the school system shall be excluded from inspection.
- D. Any records or positions compiled by the Board in preparation of its defense in any of the above issues on proceeding will be excluded. Such documents shall be submitted as exhibits at the appropriate level.

# ARTICLE XIX DISCIPLINE, SUSPENSION AND DISCHARGE

- A. 1. No employee shall be discharged without just cause, disciplined without just cause, or deprived of advantages without just cause.
  - 2. At the request of the employee, a Union representative may be present at discipline (reprimand), suspension and/or discharge proceedings for bargaining unit members, which are all to be held in private session.
- B. 1. Before an employee is to be disciplined, appropriate steps may be taken in an attempt to correct any deficiency before disciplinary action is required. If there is an alleged violation of any of the specific terms and conditions of this master agreement and/or written Board policy, the Employer shall follow the progressive disciplinary procedure as outlined in this Article.
  - 2. The immediate supervisor shall handle Step 1-2; Superintendent's designee shall handle Step 3-4; Superintendent shall handle Step 5.
    - Step 1. Verbal inquiry of alleged violation and constructive discussion. If an employee is found to be in error, constructive suggestions shall be given.
    - Step 2. Verbal inquiry and discussion. If an employee is found to be in error, specific points shall be cited and a constructive written reprimand given. The original written reprimand shall be given to the employee and a copy shall be sent to the President of the LEAO. While an administrator may keep anecdotal notes, no record of this reprimand shall be placed in the employee's personnel file.
    - Step 3. Verbal inquiry and discussion. If the employee is found to be in error, specific points shall be cited and constructive written reprimand given. The original written reprimand shall be given to the employee, with a copy to the President of the LEAO and one (1) copy to be placed in the employee's personnel file and the employee may be suspended for up to one (1) day.
    - Step 4. Verbal inquiry and discussion. If the employee is found to be in error, specific points shall be cited and the employee may be suspended up to five (5) days.
    - Step 5. Verbal inquiry and discussion. If the employee is found to be in error, specific points shall be cited, a written reprimand shall be placed in the employee's personnel file, and the employee is subject to dismissal.
  - 3. In cases of suspension or discharge, only information properly placed in the employee's central office personnel file during the past three (3) school years shall be used.
  - 4. In the case of an unusually serious offense, the progressive discipline steps will be bypassed and the discipline will be handled directly by the Superintendent or designee, subject to the grievance procedure (Article VII).
- C. 1. Notice of suspension and discharge. The Employer agrees, promptly upon the suspension or discharge of an employee, to notify, in writing, the employee and a LEAO representative of the discharge or suspension. Said written notice shall contain the specific reason for the discharge or suspension.
  - 2. The discharged or suspended employee will be allowed to discuss the discharge or suspension

with a LEAO representative and the Employer will make available a meeting room where the employee may do so before the employee is required to leave the property of the Employer.

D. Appeal of suspension or discharge. Should the suspended or discharged employee or the LEAO President or designee consider the suspension or discharge to be improper, a complaint shall be presented, in writing, through the LEAO to the Superintendent within five (5) regularly scheduled working days of the suspension or discharge. The Superintendent or designated representative will review the suspension or discharge and give an answer in writing five (5) regularly scheduled working days after receiving the complaint. If the decision is not satisfactory to the Union the matter shall be referred to Step 5 of the grievance procedure.

# ARTICLE XX EVALUATIONS

- A. 1. Evaluation forms used shall be developed by the Employer after consultation with the Union.
  - 2. Evaluations should be based on the job description and performance of the employee.
  - 3. Each employee's job performance shall be evaluated annually and shall be in writing.
  - 4. The employee is to review the evaluation with an immediate supervisor. The employee may request that a Union representative be present at any evaluation proceeding.
  - 5. The evaluation report shall be signed by the employee if it is acceptable. If the employee does not agree with the evaluation, the employee will be only required to initial it as evidence of having seen or read the evaluation report. In addition, space shall be provided on the evaluation form for employee comments.
- B. When an unsatisfactory rating is contemplated the Employer and the LEAO employee involved shall mutually agree upon a meeting date. The employee shall be entitled to have an LEAO representative present.
- C. If there is an unsatisfactory rating to be considered, or given, the following steps shall be followed:
  - Step 1. Before an employee is given a written unsatisfactory evaluation in job performance, the administrator shall meet with the individual at least one (1) month prior to such a rating being submitted in order to put the employee on notice that the job performance is not considered to be satisfactory and to discuss means of improvement. A written summary of such a conference shall be prepared by the immediate supervisor and given to the employee within two (2) work days with a copy submitted to the President of the LEAO.
  - Step 2. Annual job performance evaluation.
  - Step 3. If the employee receives an unsatisfactory rating, an evaluation shall be made sixty (60) days following the annual evaluation.
- D. An employee deemed unsatisfactory, shall have the opportunity, if an opening exists or if another employee mutually agrees to exchange assignments for six (6) months to bring the employee's job performance up to a satisfactory condition. Employees in the Secretarial Series Classification shall be an exception to the mutually-agreed upon assignment exchange and an exchange shall be made only when the two (2) immediate supervisors mutually agree. If services are rated satisfactory at the end of the six (6) month period, the employee shall be retained in the current assignment. If the employee's services are rated unsatisfactory, a hearing shall be scheduled by the Office of the Personnel in accordance with the steps in Section B of this Article.
- E. Written job performance evaluations shall not contain reference to any prior infractions not previously brought to the attention of the employee.

#### ARTICLE XXI SAFETY PROVISIONS

- A. The Employer shall make reasonable provisions for the safety of its employees during the hours of employment and the employees shall comply with all safety rules established.
- B. The Employer shall provide safe and healthful working conditions and shall provide the necessary protective devices and other equipment to protect the employees from injury and sickness, according to OSHA standards.
- C. No employee shall be ordered to or forced to use defective equipment of any nature when such defect could result in the employee's personal injury or destruction of property, or injury to another person.
- D. Safety shall be the rule at all times, and any defects of equipment shall be reported to the immediate supervisor and the Employer immediately. Defective equipment adversely affecting safety shall be removed from service until it is repaired and can be used in safe condition.
- E. The Employer shall provide directions for use of toxic and poisonous chemicals and proper storage for same in properly labeled containers.
- F. No employee shall be required to perform any duties or work on a ladder or scaffold if he/she must stand five feet or more from the floor or ground without the aid of a helper.
- G. No employee shall be required to install glass in outside windows without a helper where a ladder-scaffold is required.
- H. No employee shall be required to drive a vehicle that is unsafe or not road-worthy. Employees, who drive a vehicle and discover that it is unsafe or not road-worthy, are to report to the immediate supervisor and the Employer that repairs are needed.
- I. In the event a driver is authorized to use a vehicle owned by the school district and is ticketed by any police department for defective equipment, the Employer shall pay for the ticket and make every effort to clear the employee's driving record.
- J. Protective clothing shall be provided to personnel when they perform maintenance work which could result in soiling or staining beyond that which could normally be cleaned by a home laundry. A smock will be provided to those secretaries required to work in situations that create a potential danger to their clothing, i.e. copy machine & other office equipment.
- K. No food service, secretarial or clerical employee shall be required to lift more than forty (40) pounds and arrangements will be made for handling of supplies in heavier packages.
- L. There shall be at least one (1) regular, full-time custodian in each building on the afternoon shift.
- M. No employee shall be required to work alone in a building after 12:00 midnight.

### ARTICLE XXII REST PERIOD AND FACILITIES FOR RELIEF TIME

- A. A fifteen (15) minute duty-free paid rest period away from work station will be allowed during each four (4) hour work period scheduled as near as possible to the mid-point of the period. A thirty (30) minute duty-free, uninterrupted unpaid lunch period will be provided. With prior written supervisory approval an employee may extend his/her lunch up to sixty (60) minutes.
- B. Where available, the Employer shall provide in each school, adequate lunchroom, rest room and lavatory facilities exclusively for employees' use and at least one (1) room reasonably furnished shall be reserved for use as a lounge. Provisions for such facilities will be made in all future buildings.
- C. Lunch period schedules shall be determined following a meet and confer with immediate supervisor. If agreement cannot be reached between association member and supervisor it may be appealed to the Superintendent or designee.
- D. In cases where such exclusive facilities are not available, permission will be granted for use of existing but otherwise designated facilities.

## ARTICLE XXIII UNIFORMS

- A. All new employees in the Custodial, Maintenance, and Food Service classifications shall be provided with four (4) uniforms. All other employees, in the above-mentioned classifications, will be allowed three (3) uniforms per year. The Employer shall select, purchase and provide the uniforms. All maintenance personnel shall be provided with one (1) set of coveralls per year at no cost to the employee.
- B. Laundry services shall be provided by the Board and may be used at the option of the employees, if available.
- C. The Employer expects those employees, who are provided uniforms, to wear such uniforms in the performance of their duties.

### ARTICLE XXIV INFORMATION

- A. The Board agrees to make available to the LEAO, in response to written request by its President, all information concerning the financial resources of the Board, including, but not limited to, annual reports and audits, register of personnel, tentative budgetary requirements and allocations (including County Allocation Board budgets), agenda and minutes of all Board meetings, treasurer's reports, census and membership date, names and addresses of all members of the bargaining unit, salaries paid thereto, and such other information as will assist the LEAO in developing intelligent, accurate, informed, and constructive programs on behalf of the LEAO. One (1) copy of any requested document will be provided without cost. Additional copies will be provided at the district's cost of duplication. Any request will not exceed a maximum of five (5) years of any given document.
- B. The LEAO shall have the opportunity for input concerning fiscal, budgetary or tax programs, construction programs and major revisions of policy where these areas directly affect the members of this bargaining unit. Such input shall occur prior to adoption and/or general publication.
- C. Recognizing that changes to student placement and staffing may occur prior to school starting, employees will be notified of their tentative assignment 2 weeks prior to the first day of students' return.

### ARTICLE XXV ASSOCIATION ACTIVITIES

- A. The LEAO and its representatives shall have the right to use school buildings at all reasonable hours for meetings which do not interfere with the assigned functions of the regular program. No charge shall be made for use of the buildings.
- B. Each department shall be provided with a mailbox, in each building, and the LEAO shall be granted the right to the use of inter-school mail service. All mail shall be clearly marked LEAO.
- C. Bulletin board space, in each building, shall be made available for the use of the LEAO and other established media of communication, such as telephone and public address system, during regular announcement times, shall be made available to the LEAO and its members.
- D. The LEAO shall be permitted to transact official LEAO business on school property at all reasonable times, outside of the employee's regular work schedule, provided that it shall not interfere with, or interrupt, normal operations.
- E. LEAO members shall have the right to distribute LEAO material to other employees so long as such distribution does not interfere in the normal operation of the work area or an employee's job performance.
- F. The LEAO shall have use of school equipment, including computers, typewriters, , copying machines, calculating machines, and audio-visual items, when such equipment is not otherwise in use. The LEAO shall pay for the reasonable cost of all materials and supplies incident to such use.
- G. Whenever the President of the local affiliate of the LEAO or designee is mutually scheduled, by the representative of the Board and the LEAO, during working hours, to participate in district conferences, meetings or negotiations, the employee shall suffer no loss of pay, and, when deemed necessary by the Employer, substitute service shall be provided.
- H. The rights granted herein to the LEAO shall not be granted or extended to other competing labor organizations. This section does not in any way restrict the Board from carrying out its legal obligations.

#### ARTICLE XXVI UNION RIGHTS

- A. Pursuant to the Michigan Public Employment Relations Act, the Board hereby agrees that every employee shall have the right freely to organize, join, and support the LEAO for the purpose of engaging in collective bargaining or negotiations. As a duly elected body, exercising governmental power under color of law of the State of Michigan, the Board undertakes and agrees that it will not directly or indirectly, discourage or deprive or coerce any employee in the enjoyment of any rights conferred by the Act or other laws of Michigan, or the Constitution of Michigan and the United States of America; that it will not discriminate against any employee with respect to hours, wages, or any terms or conditions of employment by reason of membership in the LEAO, participation in any activities of the LEAO or collective negotiations with the Board; or institution of any grievance, complaint, or proceeding under this Agreement or otherwise with respect to any terms or conditions of employment.
- B. Nothing contained within this Agreement shall be construed to deny or restrict to any employee rights under the Michigan School Code, or applicable laws and regulations.
- C. The LEAO recognizes that the Board has responsibility and authority to manage and direct, in behalf of the public, all the operations and activities of the school district to the full extent authorized by the laws and the Constitutions of Michigan and the United States of America, provided that such rights and responsibilities shall be exercised by the Board in conformity with the provisions of this Agreement.
- D. In the event that any provision of this Agreement shall, at any time, be held to be contrary to law by a court of competent jurisdiction from whose final judgment to degree an appeal has been taken within the time provided for doing so, such provision shall be void and inoperative, however, all other provisions of this Agreement shall continue in effect.

#### ARTICLE XXVII BOARD RIGHTS

- A. The Board, on its own behalf and on behalf of the electors of the school district, hereby retains their services unto itself, without limitations, all powers, rights, authority, duties, and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the laws and Constitution of the State of Michigan, and of the United States, including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the right:
  - 1. To the executive management and administrative control of the school system and its properties and facilities, and the activities of its employees and the performance of their duties;
  - 2. To hire all employees and subject to the provisions of the law, to determine their qualifications and the conditions of their continued employment, or their dismissal or demotion and to promote and transfer all such employees.
- B. The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations, and practices, shall be limited only to the specific and expressed terms of this Agreement.
- C. To change or introduce new or improved operations, methods, means or facilities.

# ARTICLE XXVIII PRINTING OF AGREEMENT

Copies of this Agreement shall be reproduced at the expense of the Employer within thirty (30) days after it is signed, and shall be presented to all employees now employed, or hereafter employed by the Board. The LEAO shall be provided with fifteen (15) copies at no charge.

### ARTICLE XXIX REVISED JOBS AND NEW JOBS

- A. In the event the Employer changes a classification description or creates a new position which is not covered by an existing classification, the Employer will notify the Union within two (2) working days of an official change, and provide a copy of the classification description of the new or revised position and pay grade. Upon request of the Union, within ten (10) working days, the Employer will meet with the Union to discuss the classification and pay grade.
- B. 1. The Employer reserves the right to reorganize any program or department when it deems such reorganization to be in the best interest of the school district.
  - 2. If such changes would eliminate bargaining unit jobs, cut hours, or change job classifications, the Employer shall first meet with the Union as provided in Article VI.
  - 3. If the Union feels that the matter has not been resolved as a result of this meeting, and/or that the individual rights of an employee have been violated, the matter may be submitted through the grievance procedure starting at Step 5.
- C. Although current job descriptions shall remain in the contract, the parties do hereby agree to form a committee to revise existing job descriptions. Management agrees to meet and confer with association representatives prior to implementing any changes in job descriptions. If agreement cannot be reached between the association representatives and the immediate supervisor, it may be appealed to the superintendent. Should the parties be unable to agree on the job descriptions, the Board shall have the final authority in determining their content. Any changes made in job descriptions after this committee has completed its task shall only be made after consultation with the Association.
- D. Persons whose positions are revised or are the result of an involuntary transfer shall not suffer the loss of accruing vacation time or the holiday pay status of their previous position due to Board/Administrative action.

#### ARTICLE XXX SUBCONTRACTING

- A. The Board agrees not to subcontract work normally performed by the members of the bargaining unit except in cases of emergency snow removal services or licensing requirements. This agreement shall be waived when subcontract work does not affect the bargaining unit.
- B. District employed Supervisors shall not perform work to be performed by regular employees in the bargaining unit except in emergencies or in cases of those absences due to vacations or regular absences or where work is of such a technical nature that no other employee has the technical knowledge to perform the task. In no case shall a district employed Supervisor be assigned work resulting from regular employee layoff, discharge or resignation.
- C. The Board may use substitute, temporary, or seasonal employees as long as their use does not result in a reduction of a bargaining unit member's regularly scheduled hours or result in an overall reduction of the regular work force as in existence at that point in time. Any temporary or seasonal positions shall be offered to laid off bargaining unit members at their regular rate of pay before district employed non-bargaining unit personnel are used. For the purposes of this Article, the parties agree to limit the use of volunteer workers to Community Education, Parent-Teacher Organization, and Booster Club activities.
- D. The duties of any employee or the responsibilities of any position in the bargaining unit shall not be transferred to other employees of the school district unless it is the result of a major revision.
- E. The Association does hereby recognize the Board's right to use employees whose wages are paid for by grant funding, government programs, etc., if such funding cannot be expended on regular bargaining unit members.

# ARTICLE XXXI OUTSIDE USE OF BUILDING AND FACILITIES

- A. Whenever a building use permit is issued to a group for any activity, a custodian shall be on duty during the time the building is in use. The custodian shall be given the necessary time beyond regular working hours after such use to clean up and put equipment back in place for regular school use, to turn off unnecessary lights, and to secure the building. The additional time shall be approved by the custodial supervisor.
- B. In instances in which a building is used by a school connected group, the need to have a custodian present may be waived when any of the following occurs:
  - 1. An administrator is present.
  - 2. A coach is present conducting a practice session.
  - 3. The Recreation Director or assistant is present overseeing the recreation program.

If the need to have a custodian present is waived for any of the above reasons and the area needs to be cleaned and prepared for regular school use, a custodian may be assigned and shall have a minimum of two (2) hours to do the job. The custodian may work up to three (3) hours with prior administrative approval.

- C. When a custodian is assigned to an activity, the opening and closing of a building used by a group shall be that custodian's responsibility.
- D. Whenever a school kitchen is used by an outside group, a qualified food service person shall be assigned to open, close and supervise the kitchen when machinery is to be used. Outside groups for purposes of this contract shall mean any assignment other than the normal school program.
- E. Whenever the swimming pool is in use, a pool operator must be present.

# ARTICLE XXXII STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

It is agreed on the part of the LEAO that there shall be no strike, stoppage of work or slow-down, and on the part of the Employer, no lockout, during the term of this Agreement.

### ARTICLE XXXIII STUDENT DISCIPLINE AND SUPPORT STAFF PROTECTION

The Board recognizes its responsibility to give all reasonable support and assistance to Support Staff with respect to the maintenance of control and discipline in the classroom and buildings. It is recognized that discipline problems are less likely to occur in classrooms where a high level of student interest is maintained. It is likewise recognized that when discipline problems occur, they may most constructively be dealt with by encouragement, praise, and emphasis upon the student's desirable characteristics.

- A. The Board, after consultation with parents and teachers, shall promulgate rules and regulations setting forth the procedures to be utilized in disciplining, suspending, or expelling students for misbehavior. Such rules and regulations shall be distributed by the Board to students, teachers, and parents at the commencement of each school year.
- B. The Board will reimburse support staff for any loss, damage, or destruction of personal property of the support staff while dealing with student discipline within Board/Administrative policy guidelines. If a support staff employee is unable to work as a result of an injury, as determined by the District's Health Service provider, the support staff employee will not suffer any loss of wages or benefits for the first five (5) scheduled workdays following the incident.
- C. Support Staff may use the minimal force necessary to protect themselves, any staff member, or a student from attack, physical abuse, or injury, as provided in 380.1312 and 380.1313 of the School Code of 1976, as amended.
- D. The Board shall provide legal counsel for a support staff employee or reimburse the support staff employee for legal expense incurred in defending a criminal or civil lawsuit provided it determines the support staff employee has acted within the scope of Board policy, professional behavior, and ethical considerations. The sole determination shall be made by the Board of Education and this section shall not be subject to binding arbitration.
- E. When a support staff employee is subpoenaed as a witness in a Lincoln Consolidated School District student child custody or child abuse case, the support staff employee should contact the Superintendent's office and building Principal immediately. The Superintendent's office may put the staff employee in contact with an attorney.
- F. When an accusation of physical abuse or assault is made against a support staff employee by parents or students or if parents call the police, an attorney, or the media about a support staff employee, the following procedures should be followed:
  - 1. The Building Administrator will:
    - Notify the support staff employee and Central office within 24 hours in person, by telephone, or in writing.
    - Keep Central Office informed and updated on any incidents.
    - Keep the support staff employee updated in a timely manner.
    - Attempt to resolve the issue in a timely manner.

 Recommend appropriate discipline to the student if it is determined that the student made false accusations.

#### 2. Central Office will:

- Contact the Association President.
- Assist in resolving the issues in a timely manner.
- Work with the Association (upon conclusion of the investigation and resolution of the incident) to determine the appropriate placement of any documents relating to the case (if applicable).

There may be times when extenuating circumstances extend the timelines. Also, there may be rare occasions when law enforcement agencies and/or legal counsel may direct the Building Administrator to keep information confidential and not make it available to staff.

- G. Neither actual physical violence towards support staff, nor intimidation by threat of violence will be tolerated from students. Unacceptable student behavior toward support staff shall be deemed to include:
  - 1. Unwelcome and/or offensive touching of a support staff employee's person, either directly or with an object;
  - Intimidation of a support staff employee, whether by actual threat to the support staff
    employee's persona, or by vandalism of property which belongs to or is assigned to the
    support staff employee;
  - 3. Attempts to cause the acts in either (a) or (b) above, or to persuade others to participate in causing such acts.
- H. Students who are determined by the Administration to have engaged in any of the forms of unacceptable student behavior toward support staff employees described in Section 1 above, shall be referred to the Administration for consideration of appropriate disciplinary sanctions, which may in the Administrator's discretion include:
  - 1. Filing a report with the police;
  - 2. Temporary suspension from school and a parent conference;
  - 3. Recommendation to the Board of Education for long-term suspension or expulsion;
  - 4. Other appropriate measures.
- I. It is agreed that use of any kind of weapon by a student will be considered an aggravating circumstance.
- J. The disciplinary disposition of any particular case shall not be subject to the contractual grievance appeal procedure, due to privacy rights of students under state and federal law.

#### APPENDIX A - CLASSIFICATIONS

#### **CUSTODIAL SERIES**

Classification I - Skilled Maintenance
Classification II - General Maintenance
Classification III - Head Custodian

Classification IV - Assistant Head Custodian
Classification V - Custodians, Van Driver

#### SECRETARIAL SERIES

Classification I - Head Bookkeeper
Classification II - Payroll Bookkeeper
Classification III - Business Office Staff
Classification IV - Director's Secretary
Classification V - Building Secretary

Classification VI - Assistant Building Secretaries
Classification VII - Clerks and Media Clerks

#### SPECIALIZED SUPPORT SERVICE SERIES

Classification I - Information Technology Specialist

Classification II - Communications Specialist

#### PARAPROFESSIONAL SERIES

Classification I - Associate Teacher Paraprofessionals
Classification II - Special Education Paraprofessionals
Classification III - Classroom Teacher Paraprofessionals

(including Pre-Kindergarten Paraprofessionals)

Classification IV - Non-Instructional (includes ISS, SRC, Community

Assistant,

Accompanist, Lifeguard, etc.)

#### **CAFETERIA**

Classification I - Head Cook/Manager

Classification II - Baker

Classification III - Assistant Cook
Classification IV - Food Servers

The listing of classifications shall not obligate the Board to fill any vacant classification, or to maintain a classification in any building.

#### APPENDIX B - WAGE SCHEDULES

- A. Probationary employees shall receive \$0.25 less per hour than the applicable rate of pay for their classification.
- B. Employees making more than the following wage rates as of January 1, 1993, shall maintain their current wage rates and shall receive percentage increases on those rates as any other employees. The rates listed below shall be implemented in those positions when other employees are hired into those positions.
- C. The classification of Director's Secretary shall include the Community Education Secretary and the Special Education Secretary.
- D. The High School Secretary shall be classified as a Building Secretary.
- E. Starting July 1, 2004, all secretarial employees shall receive an additional \$.95 per hour if they possess any one of the following:
  - 1. An Associate's Degree
  - 2. 60 hours from accredited institution of higher education
  - 3. Four (4) years of secretarial experience (this includes experience outside of Lincoln).
- F. Starting with the 2004-2005 school year, all food service employees shall receive an additional \$.75 per hour when they possess any one of the following:
  - 1. Michigan School Food Service Association Certification
  - 2. Two (2) years of food service experience (this includes experience outside of Lincoln).
  - 3. One (1) year substitute food service experience (this includes experience outside of Lincoln).
- G. Starting with the 2004-2005 school year, all paraprofessionals shall receive an additional \$.45 per hour (this is in addition to the \$1.00 increase provided for in Article X, Qualifications and Posting, F, 7). Furthermore, all paraprofessionals working with a medically fragile student shall receive an additional \$.50 per hour. If the student moves or the paraprofessional changes jobs, said paraprofessional's pay per hour will decrease by \$.50.
  - 1. The Michigan Medically Fragile Referent Group concluded that there is no commonly held definition within Michigan or within the United States for the term "medically fragile." It proposes that in general the term "medically fragile" refers to persons with complex medical care needs who require technology, specific services, or some form of on-going medical support for survival. The term will include persons with severe chronic and progressive illnesses and severe disabilities. The uniqueness and severity of each student's handicap require that they be educated on a case-by-case basis.

The employer shall provide training for all employees having to serve medically fragile students. Employees required to administer tracheotomy/suctioning, catherization (including clean intermittent catherization), tube feeding, etc., to students shall be trained accordingly.

2. Medically Fragile.

Paraprofessionals in all buildings who work with medically fragile students that require toileting,

diapering, or help with menstruation care, will receive an additional \$.50 per hour. The need for this must be documented on an IEP or 504 and approved by administration.

All Model Paraprofessionals and Associate Teachers who work with students who require toileting, diapering, or help with menstruation care, will receive an additional \$.50 per hour.

- H. Starting July 1, 2004, all Custodial and Maintenance employees shall receive an additional \$.25 per hour when they possess any of the following:
  - 1. Two (2) years of custodial/maintenance experience (this includes experience outside of Lincoln).
  - 2. One (1) year of substitute custodial/maintenance experience (this includes experience outside of Lincoln).
  - 3. One certificate in skills proficiency (i.e., HVAC, pesticide license, etc.)
- I. Beginning with the 2004-2005 school year, the following positions will be removed from the Paraprofessional Series. A new classification will be created that will include:
  - Technical Support
  - Communications Specialist

Starting with the 2004-2005 school year all Technical Support employees shall receive an additional \$.70 per hour when the possess both of the following:

- 1. A+ (Plus) Certification
- 2. One (1) year of technical support experience (this includes experience outside of Lincoln).

Starting with the 2004-2005 school year the Communications Specialist employee(s) shall receive an additional \$.45 per hour when they possess one of the following:

- 1. An Associate's Degree
- 2. Two (2) years of experience with publications, i.e., newsletters, brochures, etc. (This includes experience outside of Lincoln.)
- 3. 60 hours from an accredited institution of higher learning
- J. Beginning with the 2004-2005 school year, the Media Clerk classification will be removed from the paraprofessional series. The Media Clerk classification will merge with the Clerk classification in the Secretarial Series. The Media Clerk and Clerk Classifications will be on the same pay scale.
- K. It is the responsibility of each individual employee working within any classification to notify Lincoln Consolidated Schools of completion of any credential changes or training that is attained by the individual. Once an employee has shown proof of credential changes or training, their hourly wage will be increased effective the next pay period. Retroactive pay will be paid at any time during the current school year (July 1 June 30), but only from the date of completion or accreditation date. If documentation is not submitted by June 30 of any given school year, retroactive pay will be forfeited for that school year. The wage increase will then begin July 1 through June 30 of the upcoming school year, provided proper documentation is submitted.

NOTE: THE ADDITIONAL COMPENSATION FOR ALL CLASSIFICATIONS WILL BE PAID ONE TIME FOR THE DURATION OF THIS AGREEMENT.

### APPENDIX C - WAGE SCHEDULE

### Effective January 1, 2025 through December 31, 2025

	2025					
	1	2	3	4	5	6
QUALIFYING SECRETARIAL SERIES						
I. Head Bookkeeper	\$20.39	\$21.35	\$22.29	\$22.87	\$23.45	\$23.84
II. Payroll Bookkeeper	\$20.08	\$21.01	\$21.95	\$22.52	\$23.07	\$23.46
II. Business Office Staff	\$19.70	\$20.63	\$21.57	\$22.14	\$22.70	\$23.07
III. Director's Secretary	\$19.52	\$20.42	\$21.33	\$21.91	\$22.52	\$22.90
IV. Building Secretary	\$19.52	\$20.42	\$21.33	\$21.91	\$22.52	\$22.90
VI. Assistant Building Secretary	\$18.78	\$19.73	\$20.71	\$21.36	\$21.99	\$22.35
VII. Clerks and Media Clerks	\$18.36	\$18.66	\$18.96	\$19.27	\$19.60	\$19.90
VIII. Clerks II	\$16.00	\$16.30	\$16.60	\$16.91	\$17.24	\$17.54
QUALIFYING PARAPROFESSIONAL SERIES						
I. Associate Teacher Paraprofessional	\$19.91	\$20.20	\$20.50	\$20.81	\$21.14	\$21.44
II. Special Ed Paraprofessional	\$18.91	\$19.20	\$19.50	\$19.81	\$20.14	\$20.44
IIa.Special Ed Paraprofessional w/ Medically Fragile	\$19.41	\$19.70	\$20.00	\$20.31	\$20.64	\$20.94
III. Classroom Teacher Paraprofessional	\$18.91	\$19.20	\$19.50	\$19.81	\$20.14	\$20.44
IV. Non-Instructional Paraprofessional	\$18.91	\$19.20	\$19.50	\$19.81	\$20.14	\$20.44

# APPENDIX D - GRIEVANCE FORM LINCOLN EDUCATION ASSOCIATES ORGANIZATION

Grievance No.\_\_\_\_

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION:		DISTRIBUTION:
Name:	Date:	Supervisor
Home Phone:		Party or Parties Area Representative LEAO President
Job Classification:		
Dept.:	Building:	
J. Date Cause of Grievance Occurred:		
B. Contract Article(s) Violated:		
C. Statement of Grievance:		
D. Relief Sought:		
_	Signature of Aggrieved Party or Parties	Date
E. Date Received by Supervisor:		
_	Signature	Date
F Disposition by Supervisor		
_	Signature	Date
J. Date Received by Supt., Supt. Or designee:		
_	Signature	Date
H. Disposition by Supt or designee:		
	Signature	Date
J. Date Received by Supt.:		
_	Signature	Date
J. Disposition by Supt.:		
	Signature	Date

#### APPENDIX E - LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS - PERSONAL LEAVE NOTIFICATION

I should like to notify you of personal leave.

Superintendent

### APPENDIX F - LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS - VACATION LEAVE REQUEST

			Date:
I would like vac	cation tin	ne the following dates:	
		1 <sup>st</sup> choice:	
I understand the	ose with t	the longest service will have fi	rst choice of dates.
			Supervisor's Signature
			Applicant's Signature
		VACATIO	ON LEAVE REQUEST
Name:			
(	)	Dates Approved:	
(	)	Disapproved	
Comments:			
			Superintendent

This request will be returned through your supervisor.

# APPENDIX G - LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS - REQUEST TO ATTEND A PROFESSIONAL CONFERENCE

Name		School		
Position				
INCLUSIVE Beginning Date and Hour	DATES OF LEAVE  / Ending Date and Hour / / /	/ / / /	TOTAL WORKING/ HOURS ABSENT	
THE PURPOSE OF THE CON	FERENCE IS AS FOLLOWS:			
LOCATION OF THE CONFER	RENCE:			
DATE:	SIGNATURE			
DATE: APPROVAL OF SUPERVISOR				
THIS REQUEST IS				
DATE:				
DAIL.	Superintende	nt's Signat	ure	
Application for conference atter	ndance must be made at least five (5	i) working	days prior to the beginning of the conference.	
If expenditures are involved, a	completed application for travel mus	st be includ	led with this form.	
The applicant will be notified o	f final action on the request			

### APPENDIX H - LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS - LEAVE REQUEST FORM

(	)	Medical or health problems of self and/or immediate family	
(	)	Personal days beyond three (3) successive working days	
(	)	Military	
(	)	Study	
(	)	Governmental	
(	)	Leave for purposes of child care	
(	)	Professional service	
Fre	om: _	Starting Date	To:Ending Date
		Starting Date	Ending Date
RE	EASC	ON FOR LEAVE REQUEST:	
_		Date	Employee's Signature
NΙΔ	ME.		
1 12	uu.	( ) APPROVED	( ) DISAPPROVED
00	N 47 A	ENITO.	
CU	/171171	ENTS:	
			Signature
			Digitatute

### APPENDIX I - LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS - EMPLOYMENT NOTICE

NAME				DATE:
				DATE OF HIRE:  JOB CLASSIFICATION:
				RATE OF PAY:HOURS PER WEEK:
	( (	) )	MPLOYMENT: SUBSTITUTE TEMPORARY PART TIME FULL TIME OF SPECIAL EMPLOYMENT	
THE B.	•			E PAID TO THE ABOVE EMPLOYEE CATION ASSOCIATES ORGANIZATION
			Employer	Employee
				Date

## APPENDIX J - LINCOLN CONSOLIDATED SCHOOLS - IN-DISTRICT EMPLOYEE APPLICATION FORM

This application form is for use by LEAO union members only. Submission of this application by internal employees is all that is required from LEAO members seeking a new, different, or supplementary position posted within the Lincoln Consolidated School District. This application will be placed on file and given full consideration, as outlined in Article X, Qualifications & Posting, prior to selection. Following official determination, each LEAO applicant will receive a copy of this form with a response from the Human Resources Office. This form must be accurate and complete prior to forwarding to the Human Resources Office.

Please Print	
Name	Seniority Date
Current Position	Location
Posting Desired	Posting Date
Home Address (City & Zip)	Home Phone
Please write personal remarks in the space provided below. A this form.	Additional space is provided on the back of
PERSONNEL OFFICE RESPONSE	
Superintendent	Date

Note: A resume and/or cover letter are not required for application to any vacant position within the LEAO. An employee shall not be penalized or discriminated against due to the absence of aforementioned documentation: Resume and/or cover letter.

#### **DURATION OF AGREEMENT**

This agreement shall be in effect as January 1, 2025 and shall continue in effect through December 31, 2025. Negotiations between the parties shall begin sixty (60) days prior to the contract expiration date. If, pursuant to such negotiations, an Agreement of the renewal or modification is not reached prior to the expiration date, this Agreement shall expire at such expiration date unless it is extended by mutual agreement of the parties.

FOR THE LEAO	FOR THE LINCOLN BOARD OF EDUCATION		
Mal C5 5/3/25 Monieka Callarino	- Pert Jame 5-7-25		